
City of Portsmouth 
Public Works Department 

RFP #21-10 
Municipal Solid Waste Services 

Addendum #1 
 
The deadline for submitting proposals has been extended from November 9, 2009 at 2:00 
p.m. to November 16, 2009 at 2:00 p.m.  PROPOSALS RECEIVED AFTER 2:00 P.M. 
WILL BE PLACED IN THE FILE UNOPENED AND WILL NOT BE CONSIDERED. 
 
Please acknowledge receipt of this addendum within your proposal, failure to do so may subject 
a bidder to disqualification. 
 
In addition to the services detailed in RFP 21-10, the City desires to contract the hauling and 
disposal of recyclable material (all fiber waste – mixed newspaper and OCC) from Portsmouth’s 
Public Schools.  The City’s Department of Public Works (DPW) collects commingled containers 
from the public schools and consolidates the recyclable material at the City’s Recycling Center.  
The DPW, through contracted services, provides recycling of fiber for the public schools.  The 
Contractor provides dumpsters for fiber waste as follows: 
 

Portsmouth High School, 50 Alumni Circle, Portsmouth 
8 yard paper container – weekly pick up 
 
Portsmouth Middle School, 155 Parrott Ave., Portsmouth 
8 yard paper container – weekly pick up  
 
New Franklin Elementary School, One Franklin Drive, Portsmouth 
8 yard paper container – weekly pick up  
 
Dondero Elementary School, 32 Van Buren Avenue, Portsmouth 
10 yard paper container – weekly pick up 
 
Little Harbour Elementary School, 50 Clough Drive, Portsmouth 
8 yard paper container – weekly pick up 

 
Contractors are invited to submit proposals for services detailed in the original RFP 21-10 issued 
and for the following services:      
 
Service:  Recycling fiber waste at Portsmouth Public Schools  
Task Description:  Provide description of recycling options.  Include: 

• the type of recyclables received, i.e. mixed news paper and/or OCC, etc.; 
• the type and size of container provided to the schools; 
• the method of collecting recyclable material; 
• the tipping, hauling fee and/or earnings. 

 
Also include proposed duration of services. 
 
Contractor may provide any or all the services requested.  A contractor providing one service 
(i.e. hauling but does not have a disposal outlet or alternately receives recyclable material but 



does not provide hauling services) does not preclude the City negotiating an agreement for that 
service and partnering with other contractors that submitted proposals for the remaining 
necessary services. 
Subsequent to the City issuing RFP 21-10, the City received the following questions.  No oral 
interpretation was given.  Following are the questions and the City’s response. 
 
 
1. Is the City of Portsmouth Recycling Center at 680 Peverly Hill Road, currently 

permitted to dump and transfer MSW?  If not, will the City be responsible for applying 
to allow for the transfer of MSW? 

 
The City of Portsmouth’s Recycling Center is currently operating under a Permit-By-
Notification, DES-SW-PN-99-008, which restricts the facility to receive no more than 30 tons 
(MSW, select recyclables, bulky waste, including white goods, C&D, and tires) per day and store 
no more than 14X the maximum receiving amount (420 tons per day). 
 
The City would consider applying for a Standard Permit to allow for an increase in receiving 
and/or storage capacity if a proposal presents an option that the City deems to be in its best 
interest.  In such case, the City would take the lead in a collaborative effort to apply for the 
Standard Permit. 
 
However, the City is not interested in a Standard Permit that would include unlimited service, 
expanding receiving material beyond precise geographic areas and/or generators.  Presently, 
Portsmouth’s Recycling Center is limited to Portsmouth residents, Portsmouth DPW operations 
and a limited agreement allowing for the Town of New Castle’s recyclables to be transferred and 
consolidated.  

 
2. Will the City be making any structural changes to the Recycling Center to handle 

loading and unloading of MSW and/or recyclables? 
 
The City is interested in reducing its carbon foot print and economizing on hauling material from 
the Recycling Center.  If a proposal includes structural changes to the Recycling Center that 
make strides toward these objectives the City would be interested.  Ideally the savings realized in 
reducing the number of hauls should pay for the structural improvements over a minimum period 
of time. 
 
3. Who would be responsible for loading of MSW and recyclables into the 

containers/trailers to be hauled? 
 
Presently only DPW employees work and operate the Recycling Center.  As long as the present 
layout of the Recycling Center remains, it will continue to be operated by DPW employees.  If 
structural changes are proposed, approved and made that include a change in the present 
operations the City would want to realize a cost/operational savings and retain operational 
control of the facility.   
 
4. It is stated that CES was providing the hauling and disposal of recyclables until April 3, 

2009 when it ceased performing due to filing for bankruptcy.  What is the current 
situation of the City in which it handles its recyclables?  Who is currently providing the 
hauling?  Who is currently marketing your recyclables?  Can we get that information 



supplied as to the number of hauls, recyclables processing destination and all the 
costs/revenues associated with the City of Portsmouth recyclables? 

Pinard was the sub-contractor for CES, hauling the material to outlets contracted with CES to 
receive and process recyclables.  After April 3, 2009, in order to minimize disruption of services 
to the City, the City negotiated temporary terms directly with Pinard for the hauling and 
recycling of Portsmouth’s curbside recyclables.  Pinard is presently responsible for identifying 
outlets within minimal hauling distances and ensuring the material is recycled within industry 
standards.  The receiving facilities are responsible for the marketing and further recycling of 
material received.   
 
There is an average of 1 haul per day (an average of 6.5 tons) for paper recycling. 
Commingled containers for recycling is hauled generally every other day (an average of  4.5 
tons).  Occasionally one or two times during the five day work week an additional haul for 
commingled containers is required. 
 
The City is presently paying an average of $10,1 63.00 per month.  This price includes the 
hauling and receiving of recyclable material.  The price fluctuates depending on the market 
conditions. 
 
5. Can we get a copy of your Permit-By-Notification and your O&M Plan? 
 
The Permit-By-Notification follows this Addendum.  A Permit-By-Notification does not require 
an O&M Plan. 
 
6. Whereas the City’s Recycling Center is operated by City personnel, will the City of 

Portsmouth be providing the personnel and equipment to load MSW and/or recyclables 
into trailers in the event of a retrofit of the facility to accommodate the use of trailers? 

 
See answer to question number 3 above. 
 
Price Proposal Form  
Reference p. 4 of this Addendum.   Please describe on a separate sheet any additional 
pricing options if a contract is proposed in excess of three years. 
 
 



VI. PRICE PROPOSAL FORM 
This form shall be filled in by the qualified applicant.  Prices shall be written in both words and 
numerals and the extensions made by him/her.  In case of discrepancy between words and 
numerals, the amount shown in words shall govern. 
 

Project involving City of Portsmouth’s “Municipal Solid Waste Services”, in accordance with 
the Scope of Services, the following: 
 

Service Unit Price (Words and 
Numbers) 

Total 
(based on City’s FY 

’08 volumes)*** 
Disposal of MSW 

 / ton  
Disposal of Bulky Waste 

 / ton 
 

Receiving and Processing of 
Recyclables 

 / ton  

  Annual Total 
(based on total 
number of schools) 

Recycling Fiber at Portsmouth 
Public Schools 

 /school per 
container 

 

 

Service Unit Price (Words and 
Numbers) 

Calculated on the 
anticipated no. of 
hauls using FY ’08 
tonnage 

Hauling of MSW 
 / haul 

 

Hauling of Bulky Waste 
 / haul 

 

Hauling of Recyclables 
 / haul 

 

 
Service Unit Price (Words and Numbers) 

Education and Outreach  /year 

 Total ________________________________________________ 
 
*** for those who wish to propose contract periods beyond 3 years, provide a summary 
proposal to include tonnage increases, CPI increases and/or fuel surcharges, if any. 
 
Submitted by:………………………………………………………………………………… 
  (Name of Firm) 
 
Signature: … ………………………………………………………………………………… 
 
Print Name:.….…………………………………………………………………………….… 
 
Title:  .….…………………………………………………………………………….….….… 
 




































